1978

# Industrial Construction Inc. et al v. State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This case arises out of the alleged breach of a road construction contract by the Appellant with a claim for damages including anticipated profit under an anticipatory breach of contract theory by Respondent. Appellant alleged that Respondent first breached the contract and is liable to Appellant.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial court, the Honorable J. Harlan Burns, presiding, determined that the Appellant was guilty of having breached the contract and that said breach was materially anticipatory in nature. The court determined damages, including loss of profit in the total sum of \$1,346,754.58 and awarded same on the 25th day of March, 1977.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks the following relief on appeal:

1. A determination that Respondent first breached the contract and judgment for damages resulting therefrom against Respondent or, in the alternative, an order remanding the case to the trial court for a proceeding to determine the damages due by Respondent; or,



2. For an order determining that the actions of the Joint Venture Respondents subsequent to the alleged breach of the contract by Appellant on September 26, 1975, constituted an election of remedies to proceed with performance of the contract and that the subsequent refusal of Respondents to perform is a breach of the contract by said Respondents; or

3. For an order determining that the damages awarded by the trial court are excessive and should be modified by the deletion of all the alleged anticipated profit, rental of equipment from and after October 24, 1975, deletion of general damages, deletion of the cost of water, salaries to key personnel, restoration of price reduction for paving done after the alleged breach; or

4. For an order modifying the judgment by the allowance of additional offsets for uncompleted contract items; or

5. For an order awarding Appellant a new trial for the reason that the trial court committed substantial errors which cannot be corrected without a new trial.

#### FACTS

The parties entered into a contract for the construction of a segment of I-15 in Millard County from North Holden to Scipio on the 11th day of September, 1974. (Exh.

P-11.)<sup>1</sup> \* In the spring of 1975, questions arose concerning aggregate storage for later use in bituminous paving mixes. Appellant's Project Engineer notified Respondent by letter on May 6, 1975 (Exh. D-5) that sheets 56 and 57 of the special provisions of the contract (Exh. D-4), which require separate sized aggregate were controlling. Respondent replied on May 8, 1975 (Exh. D-6) and cited sheet 55 of the provisions. The Appellant's reply on May 12, 1975 (Exh. D-7) explains that sheets 56 and 57 of the provisions are not influenced by sheet 55 which pertains to dryer mixing. This letter concluded by stating: "You are required to comply with the directions covered by these sheets." (Exh. D-7.) Subsequently, on May 14, 1975, Respondent sent a letter (Exh. D-8) to Appellant's engineer outlining the contractor's objections to the specified method of aggregate storage and requested the engineer to permit Respondent to use an alternate method under the provisions of Section 103.05, Paragraph 7 of the Standard Specifications, (Exh. D-3) which allows for changes under certain conditions. The Appellant's engineer responded May 16, 1975 (Exh. D-9) that he "lacked the authority to change specifications but would forward the request." On May 28, 1975, each of the parties

---

\* This case was bifurcated for trial. The record for each part of the trial begins with Page 1. To avoid confusion, references to the record of the first phase of the trial have the number 1 immediately following the page reference and a number 2 immediately following the page reference indicates the second phase of the trial in July of 1976.

originated letters to the other concerning the aggregate handling. Appellant's letter (Exh. D-1) stated that it preferred the contractor to follow the specifications and that if they were to be relaxed it would require an appropriate price reduction. The Respondent's letter (Exh. P-2) stated that the Respondent would produce three stockpiles of aggregate of different sizes. Appellant's engineer sent a letter to Respondent on June 4, 1975, (Exh. P-3) approving the proposal contained in Respondent's letter, (Exh. P-2) and stated that the proposal "meets the intent of the specification." \* Respondent began the production of bituminous paving material on September 18, 1975. (R. 88)<sup>1</sup> At that time, Respondent had only one aggregate pile located at the plant site. (R. 104)<sup>1</sup> Two piles of aggregate containing coarse and fine aggregate respectively, were located approximately ten miles away at the other end of the project. (R. 105)<sup>1</sup> On September 23, 1975, Appellant's engineer notified Respondent by letter (Exh. P-5) that the location of the three piles was contrary to the Special Provisions and Respondent's proposal. He directed the Respondent to "supply two or more stockpiles at the plant site." Respondent did not provide the piles as directed, and on September 26, 1975, the Respondent was handed a letter dated September 25, 1975, (Exh. P-6) which stated in pertinent part "that the Respondent would not be paid for noncompliance bituminous surface course,"

---

\* The Special Provision (Exh. D-4, sheets 56 and 57) required that aggregate be stored in separate piles of differing size and that this material be fed from these piles in the mixing process for better control.

allegedly since it did not comply with his letter of May 28, 1975 (Exh. P-2) or the special provision. Respondent thereafter terminated operations. Following a brief period of discussion (R. 122, 129-131)<sup>1</sup> and exchange of correspondence, (Exh. P-6 and D-3) the Respondent commenced a lawsuit on October 1, 1975. Subsequently, the Respondent, on or about October 31, 1975, completed paving the northbound lane in the vicinity of the Scipio Summit so that traffic could be detoured onto said northbound lane. The other joint venture partner, Pritchett Construction Company, continued performance from the 26th day of September 1975 to January, 1976, without interruption. (R. 135)<sup>1</sup> Respondent Industrial Construction, Inc., prior to resuming operations in October of 1975, notified Appellant in writing (Exh. P-11) that it was returning to work "solely in order to protect the work performed to date." (Finding of Fact No. 24) Appellant responded by letter, stating that it considered Industrial Construction Co. and Pritchett Construction Company bound by the contract. (P-10) The Respondent, Pritchett Construction Company, did not at any time inform Appellant in writing that its performance after September 26, 1975, was in any way conditional. It allegedly informed Appellant verbally of this. Subsequent to September 26, 1975, the Respondent Industrial Construction, Inc., kept equipment and some operators and

supervisors in a standby status pending a resolution of the impasse between the parties. At the conclusion of the work in October, 1975, Respondent Industrial Construction, Inc. suspended operations. No further work was accomplished by Respondent, Industrial Construction Co. thereafter. Pritchett Construction Company worked until January, 1976. The issue of liability was tried to the Court, Judge J. Harlan Burns, beginning March 25, 1976. Subsequently, the Court ruled that a breach of contract had been committed by Appellant. The issue of damages was tried thereafter in July of 1976, and after submission of briefs and further argument, judgment was entered on the 25th day of March, 1977, for the sum of \$1,346,754.59. Appellant filed its appeal thereafter.

# I

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF  
WAS EXCUSED FROM HAVING TO COMPLY WITH  
THE SPLIT STOCKPILE PROVISION IS ERRONEOUS  
AND CONTRARY TO LAW AND IGNORES THE FACT  
THAT PLAINTIFF FIRST BREACHED THE CONTRACT.

The contract between the parties contained a special provision (Exh. D-4, Pages 56 and 57) which in essence required any prospective bidder to separate the gravel aggregate into two or more piles of differing sized composition. The intention of the specification is to guarantee a more positive control of the material going

into the bituminous mixer to in turn get a product of more consistent gradation. (R. 275)<sup>1</sup>

The contract also contained an acceptance provision regarding gradation and bitumen content at the point of placement on the highway grade. This provision further established a method of accepting material at a reduced price when the mix was not fully acceptable but within certain allowable tolerances. (Exh. D-4, pp. 40-41)

The evidence shows that between September 18, 1975 and September 25, 1975, the contractor produced 9,865.95 tons of "bituminous surface course 3/4" maximum. (Exh. D-12) Of this sum, 3,250.75 tons were accepted without a price reduction and 6,615.20 tons were accepted with a price reduction.

The evidence further shows that at the time the paving began, Respondent had constructed one pile of aggregate at the site of the hot mix plant and had screened additional piles of material which contained material either larger than that which would pass a No. 4 screen (4 openings per square inch) or all of which would pass through a No. 4 screen. These piles were located at the other end of the job some ten miles away. (R. 65)<sup>1</sup> Respondent asserts that he complied with his letter of May 28, 1975 (R. 235)<sup>1</sup> and further asserts that the special provision (Exh. D-4, pp. 56, 57)<sup>1</sup> does not specify that the piles must be located at the site of the hot mix plant.

The evidence at trial essentially was to the effect that with continuous mix asphalt plants the only method of controlling aggregate gradation was in the feeding process. The splitting of the aggregate enables this to be accomplished by adjusting the feeding of aggregate from separate piles. (R. 230)<sup>1</sup>

The Respondent contended among other things that it: (1) had a different type of plant and thus should be excused from the aggregate specification; or (2) that it had received verbal assurance from State representatives that it would not have to comply with that provision.

As to the first point, the evidence shows that the plant is a continuous mix plant with some modifications. (R. 29-30)<sup>1</sup> There did appear to be a capability of removing some of the finest sized material. (R. 29)<sup>1</sup> Notwithstanding this evidence, Appellant submits that a careful reading of the aggregate storage provision (Exh. D-4, pp. 56, 57)<sup>1</sup> and a comparison of the evidence (R. 29-31)<sup>1</sup> shows that the plant in question was not unique enough to be excluded from the type of plant which the specification was written to cover.

As to the second point, the trial Court has ruled that the Respondent "was reasonably led to believe that an adjustment would be made in the provisions of said construction contract so as to eliminate the use of the split stockpile method in Respondent's production of bituminous surface course material." (Conclusion of Law No. 2)

While ordinarily an Appellant cannot properly raise a factual issue on appeal, it is submitted that in this instance the facts should be reviewed carefully, since they demonstrate the fallacy of the Court's conclusion factually and legally.

The alleged "adjustment" in the split stockpile method results from a conversation between Laliff Wood, tiff's owner and C. V. Anderson, Appellant's assistant tor. Wood's version of the conversation (R. 39-41)<sup>1</sup> is that the conversation occurred prior to the submission of a bid on the day of the bid opening. (June 20, 1974) Anderson's version is that it occurred at a later date. (R. 421)<sup>1</sup> Construction commenced in July of 1974, and not until March 1975 did the dispute concerning aggregate storage surface (R. 41, '42)<sup>1</sup>

The facts show that in July of 1974 at the time of the preconstruction conference, the "split stockpile problem" was discussed. During trial, a transcription of the discussion was placed in evidence. (Exh. D-19) Laliff Wood admitted that the transcript was correct. (R. 219)<sup>1</sup> The significant point is that at no time during this conversation dealing with that provision in issue was anything said about Respondent being exempt from that provision and/or indeed asserting that the conversation with Anderson had in fact occurred, which if it is to be believed, was only a few days previous to the preconstruction conference.



Not only is there a dispute concerning the date of the conversation, but the substance of the alleged conversation is disputed. (Compare R. 39-41 with R. 416-421).<sup>1</sup>

It is, however, Appellant's contention that the Court's conclusion regarding the non-application of the split stockpile provision because of the alleged assurance apparently arising from a conversation prior to bidding is erroneous and contrary to contract law in any event. If the conversation did in fact take place on the day of the bid, then it should be considered as merged in the contract. In the case of National Surety Corp. v. Christiansen Brothers, Inc., 29 Ut.2d 460, 511 P.2d 731, it is stated:

. . . Where parties engage in negotiations concerning a transaction pursuant to which they enter into a written contract, it is presumed that all matters relating to subject are merged in and constitute a complete integration of their agreement.

The contract does not in fact recite that Respondent could ignore the provisions of sheet 56 (Exh. D-4) or that they did not apply to him as Respondent alleged and the trial Court erroneously found.

The real question, it is asserted, is rather what did Respondent's proposal as contained in the letter of May 28, 1975 (Exh. P-2) obligate Respondent to do and has Respondent breached that obligation?

Appellant submits that everything which occurred prior to May 28, 1975, is moot, including alleged assurances

regarding the nonapplication of sheets 56 and 57 to Respondent, if that letter in fact constitutes a new proposal. Appellant submits that the letter has to be read in the context of correspondence and contractual provisions as well as discussions which either existed or occurred prior thereto to ascertain the intent of the proposal. It is therefore clear that Respondent, having been informed of the requirement to split the aggregate and knowing this, made Appellant's interpretation of the contract provision, making a proposal to comply by constructing "three piles, one plus 4, one minus 4, and one of "natural material." Read in the context of sheets 56 and 57 of the contract and special provisions (Exh. D-4), this clearly meets the intent of that provision.

The Respondent asserted and the trial Court erroneously accepted the point that "neither the original specification nor the modification contained any requirement as to where the three stockpiles were to be located." (Finding of Fact No. 4)

Appellant concedes that the language of the contract provision (Exh. D-4, Sheets No. 56 and 57) does not specifically require that the separate sized aggregate be stored at the plant site, nor does Respondent's letter of May 28, 1964 (Exh. P-2). While it is true that the exact language does not exist in either Exhibit, Appellant asserts that anyone

mon intelligence would obviously assume that a competent contractor would locate the separate sized piles at the plant site. The intent of the specification is obvious from the language. In sheet number 56 (Exh. D-4) it states, "The minus 4 aggregate shall be fed to the drier at a uniform rate. . . ." Since the mix cannot consist of only minus 4 aggregate, it follows that a pile of plus 4 aggregate is required and it is beyond belief that a contractor will locate that at another location and haul it in for every mix. This language certainly implies that the stockpiles will be located at the plant site.

If in writing the letter of May 28, 1975, (Exh. P-2) Respondent knew or intended that Appellant would be misled into believing that it intended compliance with the split stockpile method while intending all along not to comply, then Respondent is guilty of fraud. Appellant's letter of acceptance, dated June 4, 1975, (Exh. P-3) shows that Appellant understood Respondent's letter to mean compliance "with the contract specifications as bid." Respondent's silence thereafter is further evidence of its apparent intent to mislead Appellant into believing Respondent intended compliance.

Certainly, Appellant understood the letter to mean compliance with the specifications of the contract. The Court rejected this in its finding. That is patent error. This Court has recently spoken concerning ambiguous documents in the case of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Midwest Realty & Finance

Co., 544 P.2d 982 (1975), wherein it is stated:

. . . In dealing with a document which is ambiguous or uncertain, the general rule is that it should be construed strictly against the party who wrote it (Midwest) and favorably to the party against whom it is invoked (Wells Fargo). Further, when a document is of that character, the trial court can take extraneous evidence and look to the total circumstances to determine what the parties should reasonably be deemed to have understood thereby. These principles are to be considered together with this further proposition, that where there was dispute, it is the prerogative of the trial court to determine whose evidence it will believe.

How can the correspondence be looked at objectively and its language be misconstrued? It is obvious from Appellant's letter of June 4, 1975, (Exh. P-3) that it believed Respondent intended to comply with the intent of the specifications.

Appellant submits the trial Court has interpreted the specifications and the correspondence related thereto properly. Appellant requests that this Court review the documents and correct the error of the trial Court.

This Court has recently stated that this proposed action is appropriate in the case of Lake v. Hermes Ass'n, 552 P.2d 126 (1976) wherein it is stated:

. . . The defendant places reliance on the standard presumptions of credibility and veracity to be accorded the findings and judgment of the trial court. However, in a case of this nature, where the resolution of the controversy depends upon the meaning to be given documents, the trial court is in no more favored position and is not better able to determine the meaning of such documents than is this court. Therefore, as to such an issue, those presumptions do not apply. [Citing Burns v. Skogstad, 69 Idaho 227, 206 P.2d 765 (1949)]

Operations commenced on September 18, 1975, and continued on September 19 and September 22. On September 23, 1975, Appellant informed Respondent by letter of its non-compliance with its proposal of May 28, 1975. (Exh. P-2) This letter also points out the failure to comply with special provisions covering sections 403 and 407. (Exh. D-4) This letter further directs Respondent to supply "two or more stock-piles at the plant site."

Appellant submits that the foregoing facts and evidence show a clear breach of the contract by Respondent, either of the special provision contained in sheet 56, (Exh. D-4) or assuming that provision of the contract did not apply due to verbal assurances, then of the subsequent proposal of May 28, 1975, (Exh. P-2) submitted by Respondent. In either event, Respondent was clearly in breach of the contract or his own proposal prior to any breach by Appellant arising out of the letter of September 25, 1975. (Exh. P-6)

The case of Lowe v. Rosenloff, 12 Ut.2d 190, 364 P.2d 418, is a case involving suit by an administrator of a deceased subcontractor to recover money allegedly due on a subcontract and damages. The Court states the following rule:

. . . It is an elementary principle of the law of contracts that in order to recover upon a contract, the contractor must first establish his own performance or a valid excuse for his failure to perform. (Citing authorities including Am.Jur.) Since plaintiff failed under the uncontradicted proof to complete the work he contracted to do, without valid excuse for such failure, he was entitled to no judgment against defendant.

The same reasoning should apply in this case to-wit: that the Respondent contractor in order to claim a breach of contract must first demonstrate that he himself has not, in fact, breached the contract.

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