1978

Industrial Construction Inc. et al v. State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD BE SUSTAINED EXCEPT AS NOTED HEREAFTER IN RESPONDENT'S CROSS-APPEAL.

Appellant, in its Brief, has raised five issues on Appeal. The first two issues concern alleged errors on the part of the Trial Court in awarding any relief to plaintiff. The last three

issues are directed at specific items of damage allowed.

Respondent will address all issues raised by Appellant. Before doing so, however, Respondent desires to point out some deficiencies in Appellant's first two points on appeal which would be the equivalent of a motion to dismiss, as a separate ground for disposing the issues discussed in those points.

Appellant's Point I alleges error on the part of the Trial Court in two particulars:

- 1) Appellant challenges Conclusion of Law number 2, entered by the Trial Court. (Note: Apparently there is no challenge to the remaining Conclusions.)
- 2) Appellant asserts that the Trial Court erred in failing to hold that Plaintiff was guilty of the first breach of contract.

These matters will be discussed in order.

- 1) As to Conclusion of Law Number 2.

Conclusion of Law Number 2 states:

"2. That the Plaintiff was reasonably led to believe that an adjustment would be made in the provisions of the said construction contract so as to eliminate the use of the split stockpile method in Plaintiff's production of Bituminous Surface Course Material." (R. 229.) (Emphasis added.)

APPELLANT'S POINT I IS ENTITLED IN PART:

"THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF WAS EXCUSED FROM HAVING TO COMPLY WITH THE SPLIT STOCKPILE METHOD IS ERRONEOUS AND CONTRARY TO LAW. . . ." (EMPHASIS ADDED.)

An examination of the remaining paragraphs of the Conclusions

of Law entered by the trial court discloses that a modification of the contract requirement was subsequently adopted which required Plaintiff to construct three stockpiles; (Conclusion No. 3, R. 229); that Plaintiff did in fact construct three stockpiles; (Conclusion No. 5, R. 230); that there was no requirement in the contract as to where the three stockpiles were to be located; (Conclusion No. 4, R. 229); and that Plaintiff was reasonably led to believe that it was in compliance with the requirements of the said construction contract as to the construction and location of the three stockpiles. (Conclusion No. 6, R. 230.)

Consequently, the trial court did not conclude, as asserted by Appellant, that Respondent was excused from complying with the split stockpile method, but rather the trial court concluded that Respondent was led to believe that it had adequately complied with the requirements of the contract concerning the split stockpile method of storing gravel. Appellant's assertions in Point I merely amount to an attempt to create a straw-man, which is easy to demolish, rather than to demonstrate any defect in the real action taken by the trial court.

Furthermore, the objections alleged by Appellant, (even if they were admitted to be valid) come under the heading of harmless error, which should be disregarded. (Rule 61, U.R.C.P.). Conclusions of Law numbers 7, 8 and 9, state in substance that

the Bituminous Surface Course asphalt produced by Plaintiff was in substantial compliance with the acceptance standards set out in the contract, (Conclusion No. 7, R. 230.); that Appellant was not reasonably justified in withholding payment therefor (Conclusion No. 7, R. 230.); that Appellant's obligation to pay for such acceptable asphalt was a material and essential part of the performance required of Appellant under the contract and was necessary at that time in order to require continued performance of Respondent, (Conclusion No. 8, R. 230.); and that Appellant breached the contract by its refusal to pay for the asphalt produced through September 26, 1975, which constituted an anticipatory breach of the contract on the part of Appellant, which terminated the contract and excused Respondent from further performance. (Conclusion No. 9, R. 230-231.)

Conclusion of Law number 2 is not a necessary foundation for the matters contained in Conclusions of Law numbers 7, 8 and 9, so that a reversal of paragraph 2 would not require a reversal of paragraphs 7, 8 and 9 to which Appellant has made no objection.

Consequently, it is submitted that Appellant's arguments on this issue are misleading and would not affect any substantial rights of the parties, or require a reversal of the Judgment.

- 2) As to Appellant's contention that Respondent was guilty of the "first breach".

An examination of the pleadings and the transcript of trial disclose that this point was not raised before the trial court but raised for the first time on appeal. This Court should refuse to consider issues and defenses raised for the first time on appeal. See, In re Estate of Ekker, 19 U.2d 414, 432 P.2d 45; Porcupine Reservoir Co. v. Lloyd W. Keller Corp., 15 U.2d 318, 392 P.2d 620.

Furthermore, if Appellant had intended to raise this point, it should have done so as an affirmative defense in its Answer. This was not done. Therefore, Appellant waived this defense. See Rule 12(h), U. R. C. P.

The same defect exists with respect to Appellant's contention in point II of its Brief that, ". . . under the doctrine of election of remedies the actions of the joint venture partners after the alleged breach constituted an election to continue performance and Respondent has breached the revived contract." (Emphasis added.)

On the first day of the Trial, Appellant sought and was granted leave to amend its Answer and Counter-Claim. In its Amended Answer, Appellant alleged as a Third Affirmative Defense that ". . . Plaintiffs, by their actions, have waived the right

to assert that Defendant has breached the contract on the ground and for the reason that Pritchett Construction Company has continued performance under the contract . . ." (R. 69.) (Emphasis added.)

The issues relating to Pritchett Construction Co., were subsequently severed for trial at a subsequent date by stipulation of the parties on the record. (T-Dam. 10.) No Judgment has yet been entered as to the issues which relate to Pritchett Construction Co., and Pritchett Construction Co. is not a Respondent on this appeal, even though its name continues to appear in the title of this case.

However, Appellant never contended before the trial court or in its pleadings that the actions of Respondent, Industrial Construction, Inc., constituted an election of remedies or an election to continue performance, or that "Respondent has breached the revived contract" as Appellant now contends in Point II of of its Brief on Appeal. These are also defenses that should have been raised by affirmative defense in the pleadings, or they are waived according to Rule 12(h), U.R.C.P. Appellant should not now be allowed to raise these defenses for the first time on appeal. See, In re Estate of Ekker, supra; Porcupine Reservoir Co. v. Lloyd W. Keller Corp., supra.

For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that Appellant's Points I and II of its Brief on appeal, and the relief requested therein (reversal of the Judgment and a new trial) should be dismissed.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN CONCLUSION OF LAW NUMBER TWO AND RESPONDENT DID NOT FIRST BREACH THE CONTRACT.

Respondent does not intend to try to prove (in opposition to Point I of Appellant's Brief) that the Trial Court was justified in holding that Respondent was excused from complying with the split stockpile method. As set out in Point I above, that was not the nature of the conclusion entered by the trial court.

The trial court did not say in this paragraph that the contract was modified so as to eliminate the split stockpile requirement. It only said that the Plaintiff was reasonably led to believe that ~~the~~ contract would be so modified.

There is ample support in the record for this conclusion. In paragraphs 7, 8 and 9 of the Findings of Fact, the court found in substance that prior to the bid opening, Mr. Lalif Wood had a telephone conversation with Mr. C. V. Anderson, the Utah State Highway Engineer. (R. 217.) In substance, Mr. Wood testified that he was told by Mr. Anderson that the split stock-

pile requirement of Sheet #56 would not apply to his hot plant operations if he were the successful bidder. (T. 38-41). It was upon this understanding that the Plaintiff submitted its bid. (T. 662.)

It is true that Mr. Anderson disputed Mr. Wood's testimony. (T. 416-421). However, the testimony of Mr. Wood is substantial evidence which supports the court's Findings and Conclusion, so that they should not be overturned on appeal. See, Wagstaff v. Remco, Inc., 540 P.2d 931.

The Appellant next contends, however, that Conclusion of Law No. 2 should nevertheless be reversed because it is presumed that all negotiations between parties who subsequently enter into a written contract are merged into the contract.

Here again, it should be noted that the trial court did not conclude that the contract was modified prior to the bid opening to conform to the telephone conversation, but it only concluded that plaintiff was reasonably led to believe that the contract would be so modified.

In paragraph 3 of its Conclusions of Law, the trial court concluded that the construction contract was subsequently modified by mutual agreement of the parties whereby plaintiff was to construct three stockpiles. (R. 229.)

This conclusion is also supported by the evidence in the form of a letter which was written on May 28, 1975, by the contractor at the request of the Project Engineer proposing the use of three stockpiles. This proposal was approved by letter from the Resident Engineer dated June 4, 1975. (Ex. P-3.)

This modification agreement being reduced to writing and entered into subsequent to the date of the original construction contract, is not subject to the merger doctrine announced in the case cited by Appellant.

It should also be noted that Appellant has never contended either at the trial or in its Brief on appeal that the letter of May 28, 1975, (Ex. P-2) did not constitute a valid modification of the construction contract.

On the contrary, the Appellant in its Brief on appeal states:

"The real question, it is asserted, is rather what did Respondent's proposal as contained in the letter of May 28, 1975, (Ex. P-2) obligate Respondent to do and has Respondent breached that obligation?" (Appellant's Brief, p. 10. Emphasis added.)

Appellant next contends that the court was in error in finding that "neither the original specification nor the modification contained any requirement where the three stockpiles were to be located. (Finding of Fact No. 4.)" (Appellant's Brief, p. 11.) (Note: The reference should have been to

Conclusion of Law No. 4.)

This contention of the Appellant is astounding. Both the original specification (Ex. D-4 pp. 56 and 57) and the modification referred to (Ex. P-2) are in writing. A simple examination of those documents reveals that the Conclusion of Law referred to was correct, for neither document contains any reference whatsoever with respect to the location of the stockpiles. In fact, Appellant in its Brief on appeal, concedes that this is the fact. (Appellant's Brief, p. 11.)

Nevertheless, the Appellant argues that because the contractor did not locate the three stockpiles at the site of the hot plant, it committed the first breach of the contract, which in effect excused the subsequent breach on the part of the Appellant. At this point, it is appropriate and significant to point out that nowhere in its Brief on appeal does the Appellant contend that it did not breach the contract. It merely asserts that the Respondent breached the contract first.

In order to support this assertion, the Appellant relies on an amazing process of logic, rather than on solid evidence. After conceding that the "language of the special provision" or the Respondent's letter of May 28, 1975, does not require that the stockpiles be located at the hot plant site, Appellant states:

"While it is true that the exact language does not exist in either Exhibit, Appellant asserts that anyone of common intelligence would obviously assume that a competent contractor would locate the separate sized piles at the plant site." (Appellant's Brief, p. 12. Emphasis added.)

It takes a supremely self-confident lawyer (who is normally a layman as regards the contracting business) to make a statement like that. Yet Appellant fails to cite any other substantial basis in support of its contention that the contract requires the stockpiles to be located at the hot plant site.

Appellant cited the case of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. vs. Midwest Realty & Finance Co. 544 P.2d 882 (Utah 1975), where this Court stated:

"Further, when a document is of that character [i.e., ambiguous or uncertain], the trial court can take extraneous evidence and look into the total circumstances to determine what the parties should reasonably be deemed to have understood thereby." (Emphasis added.)

Among the "total circumstances" which were introduced into evidence in this case as having a bearing on the understanding of the parties, were the following:

- a. The contractor's letter of May 28, 1975, (Ex.P-2) states:

"Aggregate will be stored in three (3) stockpiles. The natural materials will be directed into one stockpile. The material being crushed will be split on the No. 4 screen

the plus 4 material will be put into a second pile and the minus 4 material will be put into a third pile. The material will be fed into the drier as required in order to meet the gradation specified." (Emphasis added.)

- b. The contractor testified that he constructed the plus 4 and the minus 4 stockpiles in Pit #2, (at the crusher at the south end of the project), while the remaining pile was built in Pit #4. (At the north end of the project), which was also the location of the hot plant. (T. 65-66.)
- c. The State personnel took tests of the material in these stockpiles to determine whether they would meet the requirements. (T. 67.) Therefore, they obviously knew the locations of the stockpiles.
- d. The State personnel rendered written reports of the content of each pile to the contractor (T. 67-70.) These reports were introduced into evidence as Ex.P-4 and the location of each pile is noted on the corresponding report.
- e. Both Sheet 56 of Ex. D-4 and the contractor's letter of May 28, 1975, (Ex. P-2) state that the contractor will have sufficient material in the stockpiles for two day's operations before commencing his hot plant operations. W. J. Stephenson, the State Materials Engineer, testified that according to the Specifications, it is the responsibility of the Project Engineer to determine whether the contractor has two day's material in the stockpiles before the hot plant operations are commenced.(T.327.)
- f. The evidence was uncontroverted that prior to commencing its hot plant operations on September 18, 1975, the contractor notified the Project Engineer of its intention to start up and requested the State to have its personnel there to run the acceptance tests required by the contract. (T. 103-108.) No one testified as to any objection on the part of the project Engineer to the start-up notice on the

basis that the contractor did not have the required stockpiles at the hot plant site, or on any other basis.

Based upon this state of the evidence, the trial court was clearly justified in determining that from the total circumstances the parties should reasonably be deemed to have understood that the contractor was not required by the contract to have its stockpiles physically located at the hot plant site.

This was also supported by Conclusion of Law No. 5, which states that the two stockpiles which were not at the hot plant site "were a small distance from the hot plant but were available for blending purposes if the contractor found their use to be necessary." (R. 230.)

Taken together, these Conclusions of Law, (which are amply supported by the evidence) demonstrate a coherent, reasonable interpretation of the intention of the parties.

Appellant also attempts to assert that the asphalt material produced by Respondent did not meet with the specifications. Yet the evidence is uncontroverted that between September 18, 1975 and September 26, 1975, the contractor produced asphalt having a value at contract prices of \$29,712.90 against which the State was allowed to deduct \$977.33 for material which did not totally comply with the Specifications. Furthermore,

the State's Materials Engineer, testified that so long as the contractor's product did not fall below the 70% pay factor the contractor was producing acceptable material according to the contract. (T. 348.) The lowest pay factor on any day for material produced by Respondent was 90%. (Ex. P-12.)

Appellant also argues that Respondent first breached the agreement by refusing to comply with directions of the Project Engineer. As noted above, this defense was raised for the first time on appeal.

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